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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

 
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this "Quarterly Report") contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”), that are based on the views and beliefs of management, as well as assumptions and estimates made by management. Actual results could 
differ materially from such forward-looking statements as a result of various risk factors, including those that may not be in the control of 
management. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report are forward-looking statements. Words 
such as “estimate,” “project,” “plan,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “potential,” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking 
statements. Our forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• the planned opening of approximately 10 to 20 American Eagle stores and approximately 40 Aerie locations and over 40 OFFLINETM 
stores, which will be a mix of stand-alone and Aerie side-by-side locations, during Fiscal 2022;

• the anticipated selection of approximately 15 to 30 American Eagle and Aerie stores in the U.S. and Canada for remodeling during Fiscal 
2022;

• the potential closure of approximately 30 to 50 American Eagle stores at the expiration of their lease terms, primarily in North America, 
during Fiscal 2022;

• the success of our core American Eagle and Aerie brands through our omni-channel and licensed outlets within North America and 
internationally;

• our plans to transform our supply chain platform;

• our acquisitions' ability to achieve expected results;

• the success of our business priorities and strategies;

• the continued validity of our trademarks;

• our performance during the back-to-school and holiday selling seasons;

• the reduction of operating expenses and capital expenditures;

• the accuracy of the estimates and assumptions we make pursuant to our critical accounting policies and estimates;

• the payment of a dividend in future periods;

• our ability to fund our current and long-term cash requirements through current cash holdings and available liquidity, including under our 
revolving credit facility;

• the possibility that product costs are adversely affected by foreign trade issues (including import tariffs and other trade restrictions with 
China and other countries), currency exchange rate fluctuations, increasing prices for raw materials, supply chain issues, political instability 
or for other reasons;

• the possibility of changes in global economic and financial conditions, and resulting impacts on consumer confidence and consumer 
spending, as well as other changes in consumer discretionary spending habits; and

• the possibility that we may be required to take additional impairment or other restructuring charges.

Our forward-looking statements surrounding the novel strain of coronavirus ("COVID-19") include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on global economic conditions, our customers’ discretionary income, and freedom of 
movement;

• the currently unknown duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, including a potential resurgence in the third quarter of Fiscal 2022 or beyond;

• the impact of governmental regulations that have been, and may in the future be, imposed in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
including regulations that could adversely affect our business or cause us to cease our digital business if we are required to close our 
distribution and fulfillment centers or are otherwise unable to acquire or deliver merchandise, or to close our retail stores;

• the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the operations of our partners, suppliers and vendors;

• the potential for the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic to cause or exacerbate supply chain disruptions, shipping delays, and freight costs;

3



 
• the ability of our distribution centers and stores to maintain adequate staffing to meet increased customer demand;

• the possibility of temporary furloughs of store, field, and corporate associates surrounded by store closures; and

• our potential actions in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Because these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, there are important factors that could cause our actual results to differ 
materially from those in the forward-looking statements. These factors include, without limitation, the following:

• the risk that our inability to anticipate and respond to changing consumer preferences and fashion trends and fluctuations in consumer 
demand in a timely manner could adversely impact our business and results of operations;

• the risk that the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and any other adverse public health development have had, and may continue to have, an 
adverse effect on our business and results of operations;

• the risk that governmental regulations relating to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic could have a material adverse impact on our business, 
financial conditions and results of operations;

• the risk that global economic conditions, such as a slowing economy, inflation, rising interest rates, and the effect of economic pressures 
and other business factors on discretionary consumer spending and changes in consumer preferences could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition;

• the risk that our interest expense may be negatively impacted by rising interest rates; 

• the risk that recent inflationary pressures could have a material adverse effect on demand based on pricing actions and operating 
measures taken to mitigate inflation's impact;

• the risk that seasonality may cause sales to fluctuate and negatively impact our results of operations;

• the risks associated with operating in a highly competitive industry, as we face significant pricing pressures from existing and new 
competitors;

• the risk that our results could be adversely affected by events beyond our control, such as natural disasters, public health crises, political 
crises, negative global climate patterns, armed conflicts, including the war in Ukraine, or other catastrophic events;

• the risk that impairment to goodwill, intangible assets, and other long-lived assets could adversely impact our profitability;

• the risk that our inability to grow our digital channels and leverage omni-channel capabilities could adversely impact our business;

• the risk that failure to define, launch and communicate a brand relevant customer experience or otherwise achieve the desired results of 
our advertising initiatives could have a negative impact on our growth and profitability;

• the risk that our efforts to execute on our key business priorities could have a negative impact on our growth and profitability;

• the risks that our efforts to expand operations in new countries inherently expose us to;

• the risk that failure to protect our reputation could have a material adverse effect on the value of our brands;

• the risk that failure to manage growth in our omni-channel operations and the resulting impact on our distribution and fulfillment networks 
may have an adverse effect on our results of operations;

• the risks associated with our inability to implement and sustain adequate information technology;

• the risk that the loss or disruption of information technology services could affect our ability to implement our strategies and have a material 
adverse effect on our business;

• the risks related to our electronic processing of sensitive and confidential personal and business data. If such data is lost or disclosed in an 
unauthorized manner, or if we or our third-party vendors are subject to cyberattacks, data breaches, other security incidents, or disruption 
of information technology systems or software, such events could expose us to liability, damage our reputation, and have a material 
adverse effect on our business;

• the risk that telework measures intended to prevent the spread of COVID-19 may negatively impact our operations or increase our risk 
exposures;
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• the risks that our international merchandise sourcing strategy subject us to, which could adversely impact our business and results of 

operations;

• the risk that our product costs may be adversely affected by foreign trade issues (including import tariffs and other trade restrictions with 
China), currency exchange rate fluctuations, increasing prices for raw materials due to inflationary pressures or otherwise, political 
instability, or for other reasons, which could impact our profitability;

• the risk that our suppliers may be impacted by economic conditions and cycles and changing laws and regulatory requirements which could 
impact their ability to do business with us or cause us to terminate our relationship with them and require us to find replacements, which we 
may have difficulty doing;

• the risks relating to foreign laws and regulations that our international operations subject us to;

• the risks associated with changes in tax policy, including as a result of the Inflation Reduction Act, or trade regulations or the imposition of 
new tariffs on imported products that could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations;

• the risk that our inability to achieve planned store performance, gain market share in the face of declining shopping center traffic or attract 
customers to our stores could adversely impact our profitability and our results of operations;

• the possibility that our credit facilities may not be available for future borrowings;

• the risks that our share repurchase program may not be successfully consummated, that it may not enhance shareholder value, or that 
share repurchases could be negatively perceived by investors;

• the risks associated with our substantial lease obligations, including future increases in occupancy costs and the need to generate 
significant cash flow to meet our lease obligations;

• the risk that our inability to successfully integrate Quiet Logistics, Inc.'s ("Quiet Logistics") business and operations may adversely affect 
our results;

• the risk that the integration of Quiet Logistics may result in significant accounting charges that adversely affect our results;

• the risk associated with our reliance on key personnel, the loss of whom could have a material adverse effect on our business;

• the risks associated with stringent and changing privacy laws, regulations, and standards as well as policies, contracts, and other 
obligations related to data privacy and security. Our failure to comply with privacy laws and regulations, as well as other legal obligations, 
could have a material adverse effect on our business;

• the risk that we may be unable to protect our trademarks and other intellectual property rights;

• the risks associated with changes in the regulatory or administrative landscape which could adversely affect our financial condition and 
results of operations;

• the risk that fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate could adversely affect us; and

• the risk that the unfavorable outcome of pending or future litigation could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

  
  July 30,   January 29,   July 31,  
(In thousands, except per share amounts)  2022   2022   2021  
  (Unaudited)      (Unaudited)  
Assets          
Current assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 98,214   $ 434,770   $ 773,994  
Short-term investments   —    —    50,000  
Merchandise inventory   687,046    553,458    503,507  
Accounts receivable, net   220,803    286,683    155,361  
Prepaid expenses and other   171,326    122,013    118,721  

Total current assets   1,177,389    1,396,924    1,601,583  
Operating lease right-of-use assets   1,210,285    1,193,021    1,103,247  
Property and equipment, at cost, net of accumulated depreciation   775,969    728,272    641,396  
Goodwill, net   271,406    271,416    16,365  
Intangible assets, net   98,651    102,701    54,255  
Non-current deferred income taxes   37,017    44,167    46,600  
Other assets   58,500    50,142    31,576  
Total assets  $ 3,629,217   $ 3,786,643   $ 3,495,022  
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity          
Current liabilities:          

Accounts payable  $ 198,645   $ 231,782   $ 221,471  
Current portion of operating lease liabilities   328,348    311,005    288,534  
Unredeemed gift cards and gift certificates   51,111    71,365    44,095  
Accrued compensation and payroll taxes   50,788    141,817    133,185  
Accrued income and other taxes   16,708    16,274    25,365  
Other current liabilities and accrued expenses   72,461    70,628    56,568  

Total current liabilities   718,061    842,871    769,218  
Non-current liabilities:          

Non-current operating lease liabilities   1,137,656    1,154,481    1,094,386  
Long-term debt, net   376,522    341,002    331,680  
Other non-current liabilities   24,055    24,617    24,207  

Total non-current liabilities   1,538,233    1,520,100    1,450,273  
Commitments and contingencies   —    —    —  
Stockholders’ equity:          

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; none 
   issued and outstanding   —    —    —  
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 600,000 shares authorized; 
   249,566 shares issued; 187,312, 168,699, and 168,454 shares 
   outstanding, respectively   2,496    2,496    2,496  
Contributed capital   380,959    636,355    630,506  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (40,017 )   (40,845 )   (36,894 )
Retained earnings   2,000,021    2,203,772    2,058,448  
Treasury stock, at cost, 62,254, 80,867, and 81,112 shares, respectively   (970,536 )   (1,378,106 )   (1,379,025 )

Total stockholders’ equity   1,372,923    1,423,672    1,275,531  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 3,629,217   $ 3,786,643   $ 3,495,022  

 
Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)

  
  13 Weeks Ended   26 Weeks Ended  
  July 30,   July 31,   July 30,   July 31,  
(In thousands, except per share amounts)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
             
Total net revenue  $ 1,198,124   $ 1,194,156   $ 2,253,161   $ 2,228,769  
Cost of sales, including certain buying, occupancy and
   warehousing expenses   828,107    691,765    1,495,118    1,290,188  
Gross profit   370,017    502,391    758,043    938,581  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   307,832    293,939    606,587    558,430  
Depreciation and amortization expense   48,171    40,456    95,540    78,727  
Operating income   14,014    167,996    55,916    301,424  
Debt related charges   60,066    -    60,066    -  
Interest expense, net   3,421    8,921    8,009    17,426  
Other income, net   (1,839 )   (1,363 )   (6,283 )   (3,223 )
(Loss) income before income taxes   (47,634 )   160,438    (5,876 )   287,221  
(Benefit) provision for income taxes   (5,168 )   38,927    4,850    70,244  
Net (loss) income   (42,466 )   121,511    (10,726 )   216,977  
             
Net (loss) income per basic share  $ (0.24 )  $ 0.73   $ (0.06 )  $ 1.29  
Net (loss) income per diluted share  $ (0.24 )  $ 0.58   $ (0.06 )  $ 1.04  
             
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic   180,189    167,491    174,544    168,036  
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted   180,189    208,933    174,544    208,400  

 
Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Unaudited)

  
  13 Weeks Ended    26 Weeks Ended  
  July 30,   July 31,    July 30,   July 31,  
(In thousands)  2022   2021    2022   2021  
Net (loss) income  $ (42,466 )  $ 121,511    $ (10,726 )  $ 216,977  
Other comprehensive income:              

Foreign currency translation adjustments   298    916     828    3,854  
Other comprehensive income:   298    916     828    3,854  
Comprehensive (loss) income  $ (42,168 )  $ 122,427    $ (9,898 )  $ 220,831  

 
Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited)

 
13 Weeks Ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021

(In thousands, except per share 
amounts)  

Shares
Outstanding   

Common 
Stock   

Contributed
Capital   

Retained
Earnings   

Treasury 
Stock   

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive 

Loss   
Stockholders'

Equity  
Balance at May 1, 2021   167,671   $ 2,496   $ 648,434   $ 1,951,496   $ (1,389,053 )  $ (37,810 )  $ 1,175,563  
Stock awards   —    —    8,901    —    —    —    8,901  
Repurchase of common stock 
from employees   (195 )   —    —    —    (6,567 )   —    (6,567 )
Reissuance of treasury stock   631    —    (17,770 )   9,580    10,696    —    2,506  
Equity portion of partial 
extinguishment of Convertible 
Senior Notes, net of tax   347    —    (9,876 )   6,995    5,899    —    3,018  
Net income   —    —    —    121,511    —    —    121,511  
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    916    916  
Cash dividends and dividend 
equivalents ($0.18 per share)   —    —    817    (31,134 )   —    —    (30,317 )
Balance at July 31, 2021   168,454   $ 2,496   $ 630,506   $ 2,058,448   $ (1,379,025 )  $ (36,894 )  $ 1,275,531  

                      
Balance at April 30, 2022   169,421   $ 2,496   $ 562,973   $ 2,224,113   $ (1,366,261 )  $ (40,315 )  $ 1,383,006  
Stock awards   —    —    8,504    —    —    —    8,504  
Repurchase of common stock 
from employees   (113 )   —    —    —    (1,408 )   —    (1,408 )
Reissuance of treasury stock   348    —    (3,452 )   (1,915 )   5,955    —    588  
Accelerated share repurchase   (17,023 )   —    —    —    (200,000 )   —    (200,000 )
Exchange of Convertible Senior 
Notes   34,679    —    (187,894 )   (144,507 )   591,178    —    258,777  
Net loss   —    —    —    (42,466 )   —    —    (42,466 )
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    298    298  
Cash dividends and dividend 
equivalents ($0.18 per share)   —    —    828    (35,204 )   —    —    (34,376 )
Balance at July 30, 2022   187,312   $ 2,496   $ 380,959   $ 2,000,021   $ (970,536 )  $ (40,017 )  $ 1,372,923  
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26 Weeks Ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021

(In thousands, except per share 
amounts)  

Shares
Outstanding   

Common 
Stock   

Contributed
Capital   

Retained
Earnings   

Treasury 
Stock   

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive 

Loss   
Stockholders'

Equity  
Balance at January 30, 2021   166,335   $ 2,496   $ 663,718   $ 1,868,613   $ (1,407,414 )  $ (40,748 )  $ 1,086,665  
Stock awards   —    —    21,454    —    —    —    21,454  
Repurchase of common stock 
from employees   (591 )   —    —    —    (17,511 )   —    (17,511 )
Reissuance of treasury stock   2,363    —    (46,285 )   20,597    40,001    —    14,313  
Equity portion of partial 
extinguishment of Convertible 
Senior Notes, net of tax   347    —    (9,876 )   6,995    5,899    —    3,018  
Net income   —    —    —    216,977    —    —    216,977  
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    3,854    3,854  
Cash dividends and dividend 
equivalents ($0.3175 per share)   —    —    1,495    (54,734 )   —    —    (53,239 )
Balance at July 31, 2021   168,454   $ 2,496   $ 630,506   $ 2,058,448   $ (1,379,025 )  $ (36,894 )  $ 1,275,531  

                      
Balance at January 29, 2022   168,699   $ 2,496   $ 636,355   $ 2,203,772   $ (1,378,106 )  $ (40,845 )  $ 1,423,672  
Stock awards   —    —    22,658    —    —    —    22,658  
Repurchase of common stock 
from employees   (566 )   —    —    —    (9,579 )   —    (9,579 )
Reissuance of treasury stock   1,523    —    (23,958 )   (1,097 )   25,971    —    916  
Adoption of Accounting Standards 
Update 2020-06, net of tax   —    —    (67,686 )   18,830    —    —    (48,856 )
Accelerated share repurchase   (17,023 )   —    —    —    (200,000 )   —    (200,000 )
Exchange of Convertible Senior 
Notes   34,679    —    (187,894 )   (144,507 )   591,178    —    258,777  
Net loss   —    —    —    (10,726 )   —    —    (10,726 )
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    828    828  
Cash dividends and dividend 
equivalents ($0.36 per share)   —    —    1,484    (66,251 )   —    —    (64,767 )
Balance at July 30, 2022   187,312   $ 2,496   $ 380,959   $ 2,000,021   $ (970,536 )  $ (40,017 )  $ 1,372,923  

 
Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

  
  26 Weeks Ended  
  July 30,   July 31,  
(In thousands)  2022   2021  
Operating activities:       
Net (loss) income  $ (10,726 )  $ 216,977  
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash from operating activities:       

Depreciation and amortization   98,057    80,822  
Share-based compensation   22,946    21,570  
Deferred income taxes   22,533    (17,108 )
Loss on exchange of convertible senior notes   55,687    —  

Changes in assets and liabilities:       
Merchandise inventory   (133,689 )   (96,439 )
Operating lease assets   142,446    145,537  
Operating lease liabilities   (159,272 )   (187,602 )
Other assets   (3,038 )   (13,736 )
Accounts payable   (33,226 )   (35,628 )
Accrued compensation and payroll taxes   (91,141 )   (9,132 )
Accrued and other liabilities   (15,874 )   16,626  

Net cash (used for) provided by operating activities   (105,297 )   121,887  
Investing activities:       

Capital expenditures for property and equipment   (127,858 )   (86,205 )
Purchase of available-for-sale investments   —    (75,000 )
Sale of available-for-sale investments   —    25,000  
Other investing activities   (529 )   (4,199 )

Net cash used for investing activities   (128,387 )   (140,404 )
Financing activities:       

Accelerated share repurchase   (200,000 )   —  
Proceeds from revolving line of credit   307,700    —  
Principal paid in connection with exchange of convertible senior notes due 2025   (136,077 )   —  
Repurchase of common stock from employees   (9,579 )   (17,511 )
Net proceeds from stock options exercised   1,369    13,065  
Cash dividends paid   (64,767 )   (53,239 )
Other financing activities   (739 )   (368 )

Net cash used for financing activities   (102,093 )   (58,053 )
Effect of exchange rates changes on cash   (779 )   87  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   (336,556 )   (76,483 )
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period   434,770    850,477  
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period  $ 98,214   $ 773,994  

 
Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

 
1.  Interim Financial Statements
The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. (the “Company", “we”, and “our”), a Delaware 
corporation, at July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021 and for the 13 and 26 week periods ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021 have been prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the 
instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by GAAP for 
complete financial statements. Certain notes and other information have been condensed or omitted from the interim Consolidated Financial 
Statements presented in this Quarterly Report. Therefore, these Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2022 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“SEC”) on March 14, 2022 (the “Fiscal 2021 Form 10-K”). In the opinion of the Company’s management, all adjustments (consisting of normal 
recurring adjustments and those described in the notes that follow) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The 
existence of subsequent events has been evaluated through the filing date of this Quarterly Report.

The Company operates under the American Eagle® ("AE") and Aerie® brands. We also operate Todd Snyder New York ("Todd Snyder"), a 
premium menswear brand, and Unsubscribed, a new brand with a focus on consciously-made slow fashion.

Founded in 1977, the Company is a leading multi-brand specialty retailer that operates more than 1,000 retail stores in the U.S. and 
internationally, online through our digital channels at www.ae.com and www.aerie.com, www.toddsnyder.com, www.unsubscribed.com and more 
than 260 international store locations managed by third-party operators. We offer a broad assortment of high quality, on-trend apparel, 
accessories, and personal care products at affordable prices for men and women under the AE brand, and intimates, apparel, active wear, and 
swim collections under the Aerie brand. We sell directly to consumers through our retail channel, which includes our stores and concession-based 
shop-within-shops. We operate stores in the U.S., Canada, Mexico, and Hong Kong. We also have license agreements with third parties to 
operate American Eagle and Aerie stores throughout Asia, Europe, India, Latin America, and the Middle East. The Company's online business, 
AEO Direct, ships to 81 countries worldwide.
 
In Fiscal 2021, we acquired AirTerra, Inc. ("AirTerra") and Quiet Logistics, Inc. ("Quiet Logistics"), creating a new supply chain platform ("Quiet 
Platforms”). AirTerra is a middle-mile freight consolidator that provides cost effective shipping solutions. Quiet Logistics is a leading logistics 
company that operates a network of in-market fulfillment centers, locating products closer to need, creating inventory efficiencies, cost benefits 
and affordable same-day and next-day delivery options for customers and stores. Both acquisitions represent an important step in our ongoing 
supply chain transformation strategy. Quiet Platforms provides fulfillment benefits to American Eagle and Aerie. Additionally, it also provides AEO 
with a new long-term growth opportunity by extending its cutting-edge shared supply chain assets and capabilities to the platform's third party 
customer file of small and mid-sized retailers.

Historically, our operations have been seasonal, with a large portion of total net revenue and operating income occurring in the third and fourth 
fiscal quarters, reflecting increased demand during the back-to-school and year-end holiday selling seasons, respectively. Our quarterly results of 
operations also may fluctuate based upon such factors as the timing of certain holiday seasons, the number and timing of new store openings, the 
acceptability of seasonal merchandise offerings, the timing and level of markdowns, store closings and remodels, competitive factors, weather 
and general economic and political conditions.

COVID-19 Pandemic
Impacts related to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic have been significantly negative for the retail industry, our Company, our customers, and our 
associates. We have experienced and may continue to experience significant disruptions to our business due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
related suggested and mandated social distancing and shelter-in-place orders. While stores have been impacted by reduced mall traffic, we have 
focused on our omni-channel capabilities. As of July 30, 2022, all of our stores have reopened and remain open, although we continue to see 
residual impacts on foot traffic and in-store revenues.

The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business are discussed in further detail within these Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and within Item 2 of this Quarterly Report, of which these Notes form a part.
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions 
and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. At July 30, 2022, the Company operated in two reportable segments, American Eagle and 
Aerie.

Fiscal Year
Our fiscal year is a 52- or 53-week year that ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31. As used herein, “Fiscal 2022” refers to the 52-week 
period that will end on January 28, 2023. “Fiscal 2021” refers to the 52-week period ended January 29, 2022. “Fiscal 2020” refers to the 52-week 
period ended January 30, 2021. 

Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. On an ongoing 
basis, our management reviews its estimates based on currently available information. Changes in facts and circumstances may result in revised 
estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements             

In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2020-06, Debt with Conversion and 
Other Options (“ASU 2020-06”), which simplifies the accounting for convertible debt instruments. The new guidance eliminates two of the three 
models in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options that require separating embedded 
conversion features from convertible instruments. The guidance also addresses how convertible instruments are accounted for in the diluted 
earnings per share (“EPS”) calculation. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company adopted ASU 
2020-06 effective January 30, 2022 under the modified retrospective method.  

Refer to Note 5 and Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding EPS and the long-term debt, 
respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation
In accordance with ASC 830, Foreign Currency Matters, the Company translates assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies into 
United States dollars (“USD”) (the reporting currency) at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. The Company translates 
revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies into USD at the monthly average exchange rates for the period. Gains or losses 
resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in the consolidated results of operations, whereas related translation adjustments are 
reported as an element of other comprehensive income (loss) in accordance with ASC 220, Comprehensive Income.

We are exposed to the impact of foreign exchange rate risk primarily through our Canadian and Mexican operations where the functional currency 
is the Canadian dollar and Mexican peso, respectively. The impact of all other foreign currencies is currently immaterial to our consolidated 
financial results. During the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022, an unrealized gain of $0.3 million was included in other comprehensive income. 
During the 26 weeks ended, July 30, 2022, an unrealized gain of $0.8 million was included in other comprehensive income, primarily related to 
the fluctuations of the USD to Mexican peso and USD to Canadian dollar exchange rates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a remaining maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Short-term investments classified as available-for-sale include certificates of deposit with a maturity greater than three months, but less than one 
year.

Refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Receivables
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The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses from the failure of certain of our customers to make required 
payments for products or services delivered. The Company estimates this allowance based on the age of the related receivable, knowledge of the 
financial condition of customers, review of historical and expected future receivables and reserve trends and other pertinent information. If the 
financial condition of customers deteriorates or an unfavorable trend in receivable collections is experienced in the future, additional allowances 
may be required. Historically, the Company’s reserves have approximated actual experience.

Merchandise Inventory
Merchandise inventory is valued at the lower of average cost or net realizable value, utilizing the retail method. Average cost includes 
merchandise design and sourcing costs and related expenses. The Company records merchandise receipts when control of the merchandise has 
transferred to the Company.

The Company reviews its inventory levels to identify slow-moving merchandise and generally uses markdowns to clear merchandise. Additionally, 
the Company estimates a markdown reserve for future planned permanent markdowns related to current inventory. Markdowns may occur when 
inventory exceeds customer demand for reasons of style, seasonal adaptation, changes in customer preference, lack of consumer acceptance of 
fashion items, competition, or if it is determined that the inventory in stock will not sell at its currently ticketed price. Such markdowns may have a 
material adverse impact on earnings, depending on the extent and amount of inventory affected. 

The Company also estimates a shrinkage reserve for the period between the last physical count and the balance sheet date. The estimate for the 
shrinkage reserve, based on historical results, can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shrinkage trends.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is recorded on the basis of cost with depreciation computed utilizing the straight-line method over the asset’s estimated 
useful life. The useful lives of our major classes of assets are as follows:
 
Buildings  25 years
Leasehold improvements  Lesser of 10 years or the term of the lease
Fixtures and equipment
Information technology

 Five years
Three - five years

 
As of July 30, 2022, the weighted average remaining useful life of our assets was approximately 6.1 years.

In accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment (“ASC 360”), the Company’s management evaluates the value of leasehold 
improvements, store fixtures, and operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets associated with retail stores. The Company evaluates long-lived 
assets for impairment at the individual store level, which is the lowest level at which individual cash flows can be identified. Impairment losses are 
recorded on long-lived assets used in operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the projected 
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying amounts. When events such as these occur, the 
impaired assets are adjusted to their estimated fair value and an impairment loss is recorded separately as a component of operating income 
within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. No asset impairment charges were recorded during the 13 or 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 or 
July 31, 2021.

When the Company closes, remodels, or relocates a store prior to the end of its lease term, the remaining net book value of the assets related to 
the store is recorded as a write-off of assets within depreciation and amortization expense. Refer to Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for additional information regarding property and equipment.   

Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net
The Company’s goodwill is primarily related to the acquisition of Quiet Logistics in Fiscal 2021, as well as its importing operations and Canadian 
business, and represents the excess of cost over fair value of net assets of businesses acquired. In accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles – 
Goodwill and Other, the Company evaluates goodwill for possible impairment at least annually as of the last day of the fiscal year and upon 
occurrence of certain triggering events or substantive changes in circumstances that indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit may be below 
its carrying value. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, an impairment charge is recorded in the period of the 
evaluation based on that difference. As a result of the Company's annual goodwill impairment test as of January 29, 2022, the Company 
concluded 
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that its goodwill was not impaired. No indicators of impairment were present during the 13 or 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021.

Definite-lived intangible assets are initially recorded at fair value, with amortization computed utilizing the straight-line method over the assets’ 
estimated useful lives. The Company’s definite-lived intangible assets, which consist primarily of trademark assets, are generally amortized over 
10 to 15 years.

The Company evaluates definite-lived intangible assets for impairment in accordance with ASC 360 when events or circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. Such an evaluation includes the estimation of undiscounted future cash flows to be 
generated by those assets. If the sum of the estimated future undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amounts of the assets, then the 
assets are impaired and are adjusted to their estimated fair value. No definite-lived intangible asset impairment charges were recorded during the 
13 or 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 or July 31, 2021.

Refer to Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding goodwill and intangible assets. 

Gift Cards
Revenue is not recorded on the issuance of gift cards. The value of a gift card is recorded as a current liability upon issuance and revenue is 
recognized when the gift card is redeemed for merchandise. The Company estimates revenue on unredeemed gift cards based on an estimate of 
the amounts that will not be redeemed ("gift card breakage") and recognizes revenue in proportion to actual gift card redemptions as a component 
of total net revenue. 

The Company determines an estimated gift card breakage rate by continuously evaluating historical redemption data and the time when there is a 
remote likelihood that a gift card will be redeemed. During the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021, the Company recorded 
approximately $2.2 million and $2.0 million, respectively, of revenue related to gift card breakage. During the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and 
July 31, 2021, the Company recorded $4.9 million and $4.4 million, respectively, of revenue related to gift card breakage.

Construction Allowances
As part of certain lease agreements for retail stores, the Company receives construction allowances from lessors, which are generally comprised 
of cash amounts. The Company records a receivable and an adjustment to the operating lease ROU asset at the lease commencement date 
(date of initial possession of the store). The deferred lease credit is amortized as part of the single lease cost over the term of the original lease 
(including the pre-opening build-out period). The receivable is reduced as amounts are received from the lessor.

Self-Insurance Liability
The Company uses a combination of insurance and self-insurance mechanisms for certain losses related to employee medical benefits and 
worker’s compensation. Costs for self-insurance claims filed and claims incurred but not reported are accrued based on known claims and 
historical experience. Management believes that it has adequately reserved for its self-insurance liability, which is capped by stop loss contracts 
with insurance companies. However, any significant variation of future claims from historical trends could cause actual results to differ from the 
accrued liability.

Leases
The Company leases all store premises, regional distribution facilities, some of its office space, and certain information technology and office 
equipment. These leases are generally classified as operating leases.

Store leases generally provide for a combination of base rentals and contingent rent based on store sales. Additionally, most leases include lessor 
incentives such as construction allowances and rent holidays. The Company is typically responsible for tenant occupancy costs including 
maintenance costs, common area charges, real estate taxes and certain other expenses.  When measuring operating lease ROU assets and 
operating lease liabilities, the Company only includes cash flows related to options to extend or terminate leases once those options are 
executed.

Some leases have variable payments. However, because they are not based on an index or rate, they are not included in the measurement of 
operating lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities.

When determining the present value of future payments for an operating lease that does not have a readily determinable implicit rate, the 
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as of the date of initial possession of the leased asset.

For leases that qualify for the short-term lease exemption, the Company does not record an operating lease liability or operating lease ROU 
asset. Short-term lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term of 12 months or less.
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Co-branded Credit Card
The Company offers a co-branded credit card and a private label credit card under the AE and Aerie brands. These credit cards are issued by a 
third-party bank (the “Bank”) in accordance with a credit card agreement (the “Agreement”). The Company has no liability to the Bank for bad debt 
expense, provided that purchases are made in accordance with the Bank’s procedures. We receive funding from the Bank based on the 
Agreement and card activity, which includes payments for new account activations and usage of the credit cards. We recognize revenue for this 
funding as we fulfill our performance obligations under the Agreement. This revenue is recorded in other revenue, which is a component of total 
net revenue in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

For further information on the Company’s loyalty program, refer to the Customer Loyalty Program caption below.

Customer Loyalty Program
The Company offers a highly digitized loyalty program called Real Rewards by American Eagle and Aerie™ (the “Program”). This Program 
features both shared and unique benefits for loyalty members and credit card holders. Under the Program, members accumulate points based on 
purchase activity and earn rewards by reaching certain point thresholds. Members earn rewards in the form of discount savings certificates. 
Rewards earned are valid through the stated expiration date, which is 60 days from the issuance date of the reward. Rewards not redeemed 
during the 60-day redemption period are forfeited.   

Points earned under the Program on purchases at American Eagle and Aerie are accounted for in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). The portion of the sales revenue attributed to the reward points is deferred and recognized when the 
reward is redeemed or when the points expire, using the relative stand-alone selling price method. Additionally, reward points earned using the 
co-branded credit card on non-AE or Aerie purchases are accounted for in accordance with ASC 606. As the points are earned, a current liability 
is recorded for the estimated cost of the reward, and the impact of adjustments is recorded in revenue.  

The Company defers a portion of the sales revenue attributed to the loyalty points and recognizes revenue when the points are redeemed or 
expire, consistent with the requirements of ASC 606.

Sales Return Reserve
Revenue is recorded net of estimated and actual sales returns and deductions for coupon redemptions and other promotions. The Company 
records the impact of adjustments to its sales return reserve quarterly within total net revenue and cost of sales. The sales return reserve reflects 
an estimate of sales returns based on projected merchandise returns determined using historical average return percentages.

The presentation on a gross basis consists of a separate right of return asset and liability. These amounts are recorded within (i) prepaid 
expenses and other and (ii) other current liabilities and accrued expenses, respectively, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Long-Term Debt
 
In April 2020, the Company issued $415 million aggregate principal amount of convertible senior notes due 2025 (the "2025 Notes"). Prior to the 
adoption of ASU 2020-06 in Fiscal 2022, the 2025 Notes were accounted for under the cash conversion model, which is one of the models 
eliminated by ASU 2020-06. The adoption of ASU 2020-06 resulted in the 2025 Notes being accounted for as a single balance in long-term debt, 
rather than being accounted for as separate debt and equity components.  As of July 30, 2022, approximately $69.6 million aggregate principal of 
the 2025 Notes remain outstanding.

In June 2022, the Company entered into an amended and restated credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provides 
senior secured asset based revolving credit for loans and letters of credit up to $700 million, subject to customary borrowing base limitations (the 
"Credit Facility"). The Credit Facility expires on June 24, 2027.
 
Refer to Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding Long-Term Debt.  

Income Taxes
The Company calculates income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”), which requires the use of the liability method. 
Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on the difference between the Consolidated Financial Statements 
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases as computed pursuant to ASC 740. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are measured using the tax rates, based on certain judgments regarding enacted tax laws and published guidance, in effect in the years 
when those temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is established against the deferred tax assets when it is more 
likely than not that 
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some portion or all of the deferred taxes may not be realized. Changes in the Company’s level and composition of earnings, tax laws or the 
deferred tax valuation allowance, as well as the results of tax audits, may materially impact the Company’s effective income tax rate.

The Company evaluates its income tax positions in accordance with ASC 740, which prescribes a comprehensive model for recognizing, 
measuring, presenting and disclosing in the financial statements tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return, including a decision 
whether to file or not to file in a particular jurisdiction. Under ASC 740, a tax benefit from an uncertain position may be recognized only if it is 
“more likely than not” that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits.

The calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, as well as the decision to recognize a tax benefit from an uncertain position and to establish 
a valuation allowance, requires management to make estimates and assumptions. The Company believes that its estimates and assumptions are 
reasonable, although actual results may have a positive or negative material impact on the balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities, 
valuation allowances or net income (loss).

Refer to Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding income taxes.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue pursuant to ASC 606. Revenue is recorded for store sales upon the purchase of merchandise by customers. 
The Company’s e-commerce operation records revenue upon the customer receipt date of the merchandise. Shipping and handling revenues are 
included in total net revenue. Sales tax collected from customers is excluded from revenue and is included as part of accrued income and other 
taxes on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Revenue is recorded net of estimated and actual sales returns and promotional price reductions. The Company records the impact of adjustments 
to its sales return reserve quarterly within total net revenue and cost of sales. The sales return reserve reflects an estimate of sales returns based 
on projected merchandise returns determined using historical average return percentages.

Revenue is not recorded on the issuance of gift cards. A current liability is recorded upon issuance, and revenue is recognized when the gift card 
is redeemed for merchandise. Additionally, the Company recognizes revenue on gift card breakage, determined through historical redemption 
trends. Gift card breakage revenue is recognized in proportion to actual gift card redemptions as a component of total net revenue. For further 
information on the Company’s gift card program, refer to the Gift Cards caption above.

The Company recognizes royalty revenue generated from its license or franchise agreements based on a percentage of merchandise sales by 
the licensee/franchisee. This revenue is recorded as a component of total net revenue when earned and collection is probable.

The Company defers a portion of the sales revenue attributed to loyalty points and recognizes revenue when the points are redeemed or expire, 
consistent with the requirements of ASC 606. Refer to the Customer Loyalty Program caption above for additional information.

Revenue associated with Quiet Platforms is recognized as the services are performed.

Cost of Sales, Including Certain Buying, Occupancy and Warehousing Expenses
Cost of sales consists of merchandise costs, including design, sourcing, importing and inbound freight costs, as well as markdowns, shrinkage 
and certain promotional costs (collectively, “merchandise costs”) and buying, occupancy and warehousing costs and services.

Design costs are related to the Company's Design Center operations and include compensation, travel and entertainment, supplies and samples 
for our design teams, as well as rent and depreciation for our Design Center. These costs are included in cost of sales as the respective inventory 
is sold.

Buying, occupancy and warehousing costs and services consist of compensation, employee benefit expenses and travel and entertainment for 
our buyers and certain senior merchandising executives; rent and utilities related to our stores, corporate headquarters, distribution centers and 
other office space; freight from our distribution centers to the stores; compensation and supplies for our distribution centers, including purchasing, 
receiving and inspection costs; and shipping and handling costs related to our e-commerce operation. Gross profit is the difference between total 
net revenue and cost of sales.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") consist of compensation and employee benefit expenses, including salaries, incentives 
and related benefits associated with our stores and corporate headquarters. Selling, general and administrative expenses also include advertising 
costs, supplies for our stores and home office, communication costs, travel and entertainment, leasing costs and services purchased.

SG&A expenses do not include compensation, employee benefit expenses and travel for our design, sourcing and importing teams, our buyers 
and our distribution centers as these amounts are recorded in cost of sales. Additionally, SG&A expenses do not include rent and utilities related 
to our stores, operating costs of our distribution centers, and shipping and handling costs related to our e-commerce operations, all of which are 
included in cost of sales.

Debt Related Charges
Debt related charges consists primarily of a $55.7 million induced conversion expense on the exchange of the 2025 Notes, along with certain 
other costs related to actions we took to strengthen our capital structure during the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022. Refer to Note 8 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the 2025 Notes.

Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net primarily consists of interest expense related to the Company’s 2025 Notes and borrowings under our Credit Facility, as 
offset by interest income from cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Other Income, Net
Other income, net consists of allowances for uncollectible receivables, foreign currency fluctuations and changes in other non-operating items.

Segment Information
We have two reportable segments: American Eagle and Aerie. For additional information regarding the Company’s segments and geographic 
information, refer to Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.   
 

3.  Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
The following table summarizes the fair market values for the Company’s cash and short-term investments, which are recorded in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets:
 

(In thousands)  
July 30,

2022   
January 29,

2022   
July 31,

2021  
Cash and cash equivalents:          

Cash  $ 98,111   $ 138,758   $ 498,211  
Interest bearing deposits   103    296,012    275,783  

Total cash and cash equivalents  $ 98,214   $ 434,770   $ 773,994  
Short-term investments          

Certificates of deposit   —    —    50,000  
Total short-term investments   —    —    50,000  
Total  $ 98,214   $ 434,770   $ 823,994  
 
4.  Fair Value Measurements
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement Disclosures (“ASC 820”), defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance 
with GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair value is defined under ASC 820 as the exit price associated with the 
sale of an asset or transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Financial Instruments
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under ASC 820 must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. In addition, ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. 
These tiers include:
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• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets.

• Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or 
liabilities.

The Company’s cash equivalents and short-term investments are Level 1 financial assets and are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, for 
all periods presented. Refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding cash equivalents and short-
term investments. 

 
  Fair Value Measurements at July 30, 2022  

(In thousands)  Carrying Amount   

Quoted Market Prices 
in Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)   

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)  
Cash and cash equivalents:             

Cash  $ 98,111   $ 98,111   $ —   $ —  
Interest bearing deposits   103    103    —    —  

Total cash and cash equivalents  $ 98,214   $ 98,214   $ —   $ —  

Long-Term Debt 
As of July 30, 2022, the fair value of the Company's $307.7 million in outstanding borrowings under its Credit Facility approximated the carrying 
value. As of July 31, 2021, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under its previous credit agreement.

The Company had approximately $69.6 million aggregate principal of the 2025 Notes outstanding at July 30, 2022.  The fair value of the 
Company's 2025 Notes is not required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Upon issuance, the fair value of the 2025 Notes was 
measured using two approaches that consider market related conditions, including market benchmark rates and a secondary market quoted 
price, and is therefore within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Refer to Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding long-term debt and other credit arrangements.

Non-Financial Assets
The Company’s non-financial assets, which include intangible assets and property and equipment, are not required to be measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis. However, if certain triggering events occur and the Company is required to evaluate the non-financial asset for impairment, a 
resulting impairment would require that the non-financial asset be recorded at the estimated fair value.  There were no asset impairment charges 
recorded during the 13 or 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021.

The Company evaluates goodwill for possible impairment at least annually as of the last day of the fiscal year and upon occurrence of certain 
triggering events or substantive changes in circumstances that indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit may be below its carrying value. The 
Company last performed an annual goodwill impairment test using Level 3 inputs as defined in ASC 820 as of January 29, 2022. As a result of the 
Company's annual goodwill impairment test, the Company 

19



 

concluded that its goodwill was not impaired. No indicators of impairment were present during the 13 or 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and July 
31, 2021.

5.  Earnings per Share
The following is a reconciliation between the amounts used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

 
  13 Weeks Ended   26 Weeks Ended  
  July 30,   July 31,   July 30,   July 31,  
(In thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Weighted average common shares outstanding:             

Basic number of common shares outstanding   180,189    167,491    174,544    168,036  
Dilutive effect of convertible notes   —    36,367    —    35,083  
Dilutive effect of stock options and non-vested
   restricted stock   —    5,075    —    5,281  
Diluted number of common shares outstanding   180,189    208,933    174,544    208,400  

Anti-Dilutive Shares   29,221    130    38,763    130  
 

For the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, there were 3.9 million and 1.9 million potentially dilutive equity awards, respectively, that were 
excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculation because the Company incurred a net loss for this period and their inclusion would be 
anti-dilutive.
For the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, there were 25.3 million and 36.8 million potentially dilutive shares from the Company’s 2025 
Notes, respectively, that were excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculation because the Company incurred a net loss for this 
period and their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

Dilutive and anti-dilutive shares relate to share-based compensation. Refer to Notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for 
additional information regarding the 2025 Notes and share-based compensation, respectively.

On June 3, 2022, the Company entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (the “ASR Agreement”) with JPMorgan Chase Bank 
(“JPM”).  Pursuant to the terms of the ASR Agreement, on June 3, 2022, the Company paid $200.0 million in cash and received an initial delivery 
of 13.4 million shares of its common stock on June 3, 2022.  At final settlement, on July 28, 2022, an additional 3.7 million shares were received.  
The cumulative repurchase under the ASR Agreement was 17.0 million shares repurchased at an average price per share of $11.75. The 
aforementioned shares have been recorded as treasury stock.

6.  Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following:
 
  July 30,   January 29,   July 31,  
(In thousands)  2022   2022   2021  
Property and equipment, at cost  $ 2,603,212   $ 2,480,438   $ 2,330,665  
Less:  Accumulated depreciation and impairment   (1,827,243 )   (1,752,166 )   (1,689,269 )
Property and equipment, net  $ 775,969   $ 728,272   $ 641,396  
 
7.  Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net
Goodwill and definite-lived intangible assets, net consist of the following:
 
    
  July 30,   January 29,   July 31,  
(In thousands)  2022   2022   2021  
Goodwill, gross  $ 275,602   $ 275,612   $ 20,561  
Accumulated impairment   (4,196 )   (4,196 )   (4,196 )
Goodwill, net  $ 271,406   $ 271,416   $ 16,365  
 

Accumulated impairment includes $1.7 million recorded in Fiscal 2019 and $2.5 million recorded in Fiscal 2016.
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(In thousands)  July 30, 2022   January 29, 2022   July 31, 2021  
Intangible assets, at cost  $ 145,765   $ 145,243   $ 93,335  
Accumulated amortization   (47,114 )   (42,542 )   (39,080 )
Intangible assets, net  $ 98,651   $ 102,701   $ 54,255  
 

8.  Long-Term Debt, Net
Our long-term debt consisted of the following:
 

(In thousands)
July 30,

2022   
January 29,

2022   
July 31,

2021  
2025 Notes principal $ 69,601   $ 412,025   $ 412,025  
Less: unamortized discount  779    71,023    80,345  

2025 Notes, net $ 68,822   $ 341,002   $ 331,680  
Credit Facility borrowings  307,700    —    —  

Total long-term debt, net $ 376,522   $ 341,002   $ 331,680  
         
2025 Notes - equity portion, net of tax  —    58,454    58,454  
 
2025 Notes
In April 2020, the Company issued $415 million aggregate principal amount of 2025 Notes in a private placement to qualified institutional buyers 
in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The 2025 Notes have a stated interest rate of 3.75%, payable semi-annually. The Company 
may redeem the 2025 Notes, in whole or in part, at any time beginning April 17, 2023. The Company used the net proceeds from the issuance for 
general corporate purposes.

The Company does not have the right to redeem the 2025 Notes prior to April 17, 2023. On or after April 17, 2023 and prior to the fortieth 
scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, the Company may redeem all or any portion of the 2025 Notes, at its option, for 
cash, if the last reported sale price of the Company's common stock has been at least 130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 
trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive trading day period. Beginning January 2025, noteholders may convert their 
notes for approximately 120.9 shares of the Company's common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the notes, equivalent to a conversion price 
of approximately $8.27 per share.

Note Exchange
In June 2022, the Company entered into separate privately negotiated exchange agreements with certain holders of the 2025 Notes, to exchange 
$342.4 million in aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Notes for a combination of cash and shares of the Company's common stock, plus 
payment for accrued and unpaid interest (the "Note Exchange"). 

The Company paid cash of $136.1 million to redeem the principal amount of the 2025 Notes with a carrying value of $339.2 million and issued 
approximately 34.7 million shares of the Company's common stock.  In connection with these transactions, the Company recognized a pre-tax 
inducement charge of approximately $55.7 million during the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022, which was recorded within debt related charges on 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  Following the Note Exchange, approximately $69.6 million aggregate principal amount of the 2025 
Notes remained outstanding at July 30, 2022.

The effective interest rate for the 2025 Notes is 4.3% and we calculated the effective yield using a market approach. The remaining amortization 
period of the discount was 2.75 years as of July 30, 2022.

Interest expense for the 2025 Notes was:
 
 13 Weeks Ended   26 Weeks Ended  

(In thousands)
July 30,

2022  
July 31,

2021   
July 30,

2022  
July 31,

2021  
Accrued interest for interest payments $ 2,008  $ 3,815   $ 5,914  $ 7,749  
Amortization of discount  255   4,956    782   9,384  

Total interest expense $ 2,263  $ 8,771   $ 6,696  $ 17,133  
 
Refer to Note 2 and Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the impact of the adoption of ASU 2020-
06.
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The following table discloses conversion amounts if the 2025 Notes were all converted as of the end of the period:
 

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
July 30,

2022  
Number of shares convertible  8,418  
Conversion price per share $ 8.27  
Value in excess of principal if converted $ 36,870  

Revolving Credit Facility
In June 2022, the Company entered into the amended and restated Credit Agreement which provides senior secured asset-based revolving credit 
for loans and letters of credit up to $700 million, subject to customary borrowing base limitations pursuant to the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility 
expires on June 24, 2027.  Before amendment and restatement, the Company's previous credit agreement that provided senior secured asset-
based revolving credit for loans and letters of credit up to $400 million and was scheduled to expire on January 30, 2024.

All obligations under the Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by certain subsidiaries. The obligations under the Credit Agreement are 
secured by certain assets of the Company and certain subsidiaries. 

As of July 30, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the terms of the Credit Agreement and had $307.7 million in outstanding borrowings 
and $7.9 million outstanding in stand-by letters of credit. No loans were outstanding under the Company's previous credit agreement as of July 
31, 2021.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility accrue interest at the election of the Company at an adjusted secured overnight financing rate ("SOFR") rate 
of SOFR plus 0.10% plus an applicable margin (ranging from 1.125% to 1.375%) or an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin (ranging 
from 0.125% to 0.375%), with each such applicable margin being based on average borrowing availability under the Credit Facility. Interest is 
payable quarterly and at the end of each applicable interest period. The weighted average interest rate for borrowings during the 13 weeks ended 
July 30, 2022 was 2.7%. The total interest expense related to the Credit Facility for both the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 was $1.0 
million.  

9.  Share-Based Compensation 
The Company accounts for share-based compensation under the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation, which requires 
the Company to measure and recognize compensation expense for all share-based payments at fair value. 

Total share-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 
was $8.6 million ($7.7 million, net of tax) and $22.9 million ($20.4 million, net of tax), respectively, and for the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 31, 
2021 was $9.0 million ($6.8 million, net of tax) and $21.6 million ($16.4 million, net of tax), respectively.

Stock Option Grants
The Company has granted time-based stock option awards, which vest over the requisite service period of the award or at an employee’s eligible 
retirement date, if earlier. A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 follows:
 

    

 

Weighted-
Average   

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual   Aggregate  

  Options   Exercise Price   Term   Intrinsic Value  
  (In thousands)      (In years)   (In thousands)  
Outstanding - January 29, 2022   3,647   $ 16.74        
Granted   1,094   $ 17.24        
Exercised   (80 )  $ 8.62        
Cancelled   (398 )  $ 16.02        
Outstanding - July 30, 2022   4,263   $ 17.09    4.4    2,401  
Vested and expected to vest - July 30, 2022   3,022   $ 17.00    3.1    782  
Exercisable - July 30, 2022   460   $ 8.62    4.4    1,575  
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Options exercisable represent “in-the-money” vested options based upon the weighted-average exercise price of vested options compared to 
the Company’s stock price on July 30, 2022.

Cash received from the exercise of stock options and the actual tax benefit realized from share-based payments was $1.4 million and $0.4 million, 
respectively, for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022. Cash received from the exercise of stock options and the actual tax benefit realized from 
share-based payments was $13.1 million and $4.1 million, respectively, for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021.

As of July 30, 2022, there was $9.6 million of unrecognized compensation expense for stock option awards that is expected to be recognized over 
a weighted average period of 2.2 years.  

The fair value of stock options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average 
assumptions:
 
  26 Weeks Ended  26 Weeks Ended  
  July 30,  July 31,  
Black-Scholes Option Valuation Assumptions  2022  2021  
Risk-free interest rate   2.5 % 0.9 %
Dividend yield   3.8 % 1.6 %
Volatility factor   52.2 % 50.7 %
Weighted-average expected term  4.5 years  4.5 years  
 

Based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant with a term consistent with the expected life of our stock options. 
Based on historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. 
Represents the period of time options are expected to be outstanding. The weighted average expected option terms were determined based 
on historical experience.            

Restricted Stock Grants
Time-based restricted stock awards are comprised of time-based restricted stock units. These awards vest over three years. Time-based 
restricted stock units receive dividend equivalents in the form of additional time-based restricted stock units, which are subject to the same 
restrictions and forfeiture provisions as the original award.

Performance-based restricted stock awards include performance-based restricted stock units. These awards cliff vest at the end of a three-year 
period based upon the Company’s achievement of pre-established goals throughout the term of the award. Performance-based restricted stock 
units receive dividend equivalents in the form of additional performance-based restricted stock units, which are subject to the same restrictions 
and forfeiture provisions as the original award.

The grant date fair value of time-based restricted stock awards is based on the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date 
of grant. A Monte-Carlo simulation was utilized for performance-based restricted stock awards.

A summary of the Company’s restricted stock activity is presented in the following table:
 

  
Time-Based Restricted 

Stock Units   
Performance-Based Restricted 

Stock Units  
  July 30, 2022   July 30, 2022  

(Shares in thousands)  Shares   

Weighted-
Average 

Grant Date 
Fair Value   Shares   

Weighted-
Average 

Grant Date 
Fair Value  

Non-vested - January 29, 2022   2,702   $ 16.25    1,462   $ 20.95  
Granted   1,578   $ 16.59    549   $ 19.16  
Vested   (1,189 )  $ 14.93    (257 )  $ 21.28  
Cancelled   (181 )  $ 14.27    (76 )  $ 21.16  
Non-vested - July 30, 2022   2,910   $ 17.10    1,678   $ 20.30  
 
As of July 30, 2022, there was $38.4 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested, time-based restricted stock unit 
awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years. Based on current probable performance, there is $11.4 
million of unrecognized compensation expense related to performance-based restricted stock unit awards which will be recognized as 
achievement of performance goals is probable over a one to three year period.

As of July 30, 2022, the Company had 4.5 million shares available for all equity grants.
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10.  Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes is based on the current estimate of the annual effective income tax rate and is adjusted as necessary for discrete 
quarterly events. The effective income tax benefit rate for the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022 was 10.9% compared to the effective income tax rate 
of 24.3% for the 13 weeks ended July 31, 2021. The effective income tax rate for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 was -82.5% compared to 
24.5% for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021. The change in the effective tax rate, as compared to the prior period, is primarily due to the Note 
Exchange as a portion of the inducement charge was not deductible, lower excess tax benefits on share-based payments, and state legislative 
changes.  

The Company records accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The Company recognizes 
income tax liabilities related to unrecognized tax benefits in accordance with ASC 740 and adjusts these liabilities when its judgment changes as 
a result of the evaluation of new information not previously available. Unrecognized tax benefits did not change significantly during the 13 weeks 
ended July 30, 2022. Over the next twelve months, the Company believes that it is reasonably possible that unrecognized tax benefits may 
decrease by approximately $0.8 million due to settlements, expiration of statute of limitations, or other changes in unrecognized tax benefits. 

11.  Legal Proceedings
The Company is subject to certain legal proceedings and claims arising out of the conduct of its business. In accordance with ASC 450, 
Contingencies (“ASC 450”), the Company records a reserve for estimated losses when the loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably 
estimated. If a range of possible loss exists and no anticipated loss within the range is more likely than any other anticipated loss, the Company 
records the accrual at the low end of the range, in accordance with ASC 450. As the Company believes that it has provided adequate reserves, it 
anticipates that the ultimate outcome of any matter currently pending against the Company will not materially affect the consolidated financial 
position, results of operations or consolidated cash flows of the Company. However, our assessment of any litigation or other legal claims could 
potentially change in light of the discovery of facts not presently known or determinations by judges, juries, or other finders of fact which are not in 
accord with management’s evaluation of the possible liability or outcome of such litigation or claims.

12. Segment Reporting
In accordance with ASC 280, Segment Reporting (“ASC 280”), the Company has identified two operating segments (American Eagle brand and 
Aerie brand) that also represent our reportable segments and reflect the Chief Operating Decision Maker’s (defined as our CEO) internal view of 
analyzing results and allocating resources. Additionally, our Todd Snyder brand, Unsubscribed brand, and Quiet Platforms have been identified as 
separate operating segments; however, as they do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate disclosure, they have been included in the 
Corporate and Other category, as permitted by ASC 280.

Our CEO analyzes segment results and allocates resources between segments based on the adjusted operating income (loss), or the operating 
income (loss) in periods where there are no adjustments, of each segment.  Adjusted operating income (loss) is a non-GAAP financial measure 
("non-GAAP" or "adjusted") that is defined by the Company as operating income excluding impairment, restructuring and COVID-19 related 
charges. Adjusted operating income (loss) is not based on any standardized methodology prescribed by GAAP and is not necessarily comparable 
to similar measures presented by other companies. Non-GAAP information is provided as a supplement to, not as a substitute for, or as superior 
to, measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. We believe that this non-GAAP information is useful as an additional 
means for investors to evaluate our operating performance, when reviewed in conjunction with our GAAP consolidated financial statements and 
provides a higher degree of transparency. These amounts are not determined in accordance with GAAP and, therefore, should not be used 
exclusively in evaluating our business and operations. There were no adjustments to operating income in either the 13 or 26 weeks ended July 
30, 2022 or July 31, 2021 for any segment, therefore adjusted operating income (loss) is not presented in the table below.
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Reportable segment information is presented in the following table:
 

(in thousands) American Eagle   Aerie   
Corporate and 

Other   Total  
13 weeks ended July 30, 2022            
Total net revenue $ 777,828   $ 371,683   $ 48,613   $ 1,198,124  
Operating income (loss) $ 109,110   $ 11,830   $ (106,926 )  $ 14,014  
Capital expenditures $ 18,754   $ 30,244   $ 20,466   $ 69,464  
            
13 weeks ended July 31, 2021            
Total net revenue $ 845,882   $ 335,795   $ 12,479   $ 1,194,156  
Operating income (loss) $ 198,896   $ 70,646   $ (101,546 )  $ 167,996  
Capital expenditures $ 17,189   $ 16,641   $ 15,569   $ 49,399  
            

(in thousands) American Eagle   Aerie   
Corporate and 

Other   Total  
26 weeks ended July 30, 2022            
Total net revenue $ 1,463,407   $ 693,395   $ 96,359   $ 2,253,161  
Operating income (loss) $ 213,015   $ 54,903   $ (212,002 )  $ 55,916  
Capital expenditures $ 34,524   $ 61,259   $ 32,075   $ 127,858  
            
26 weeks ended July 31, 2021            
Total net revenue $ 1,573,584   $ 633,282   $ 21,903   $ 2,228,769  
Operating income (loss) $ 350,128   $ 140,624   $ (189,328 )  $ 301,424  
Capital expenditures $ 30,628   $ 27,460   $ 28,117   $ 86,205  
 

Corporate and Other includes revenue and operating results of the Todd Snyder brand, Unsubscribed brand, and Quiet Platforms (net of 
intersegment eliminations), which have been identified as separate operating segments, but are not material to disclose as separate 
reportable segments. Corporate operating costs represent certain costs that are not directly attributable to another reportable segment.
The difference between operating income (loss) and income before income taxes includes the following, which are not allocated to our 
reportable segments:

-  For the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022: debt related charges of $60.1 million; interest expense, net of $3.4 million; and other income, net 
of $1.8 million.  For the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022: debt related charges of $60.1 million; interest expense, net of $8.0 million; and 
other income, net of $6.3 million. 

-  For the 13 weeks ended July 31, 2021: interest expense, net of $8.9 million and other income, net of $1.4 million. For the 26 weeks 
ended July 31, 2021: interest expense, net of $17.4 million and other income, net of $3.2 million.

We do not allocate assets at the reportable segment level and therefore our CEO does not use segment asset information to make decisions.

The following table presents summarized geographical information:
 
  13 Weeks Ended   26 Weeks Ended  

(In thousands)  
July 30,

2022   
July 31,

2021   
July 30,

2022   
July 31,

2021  
Total net revenue:             

United States  $ 1,027,158   $ 1,030,308   $ 1,935,323   $ 1,939,966  
Foreign   170,966    163,848    317,838    288,803  
Total net revenue  $ 1,198,124   $ 1,194,156   $ 2,253,161   $ 2,228,769  

Amounts represent sales from American Eagle and Aerie international retail stores, e-commerce sales that are billed to and/or shipped to 
foreign countries, and international franchise royalty revenue.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS.
The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") is intended to help the reader 
understand the Company, our operations and our present business environment. The following MD&A is provided as a supplement to — and 
should be read in conjunction with — our MD&A for Fiscal 2021 which can be found in our Fiscal 2021 Form 10-K.

In addition, the following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial 
Statements and should be read in conjunction with these statements and notes thereto.

Introduction
This MD&A is organized as follows:
 
Executive Overview General description of the Company’s business and certain segment information.
Key Performance Indicators Overview of key performance indicators reviewed by management to gauge the 

Company’s results.
Current Trends and Outlook Discussion of trends and uncertainties facing the Company, including those related to 

the COVID-19 pandemic’s impact on the Company’s business, recent acquisitions and 
the Company’s long-term plans for growth. In addition, this section also provides a 
summary of the Company’s performance over the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 
and the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021.

Non-GAAP Information Discussion of certain financial measures that have been determined to not be in 
accordance with GAAP. This section includes certain reconciliations from GAAP to non-
GAAP financial measures and additional details on these financial non-GAAP measures, 
including information as to why the Company believes the non-GAAP financial 
measures provided within MD&A are useful to investors.

Results of Operations Provides an analysis of certain components of the Company’s Consolidated Statements 
of Operations for the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and the 13 and 26 weeks 
ended July 31, 2021.

Liquidity and Capital Resources Discussion of the Company’s financial condition and changes in financial condition and 
liquidity for the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and the 13 and 26 weeks ended 
July 31, 2021.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates Discusses where information may be found about accounting policies and estimates 
considered to be important to the Company’s results of operations and financial 
condition, which typically require significant judgment and estimation on the part of the 
Company’s management in their application.

 
Recent accounting pronouncements the Company has adopted or is currently evaluating prior to adoption, including the dates of adoption or 
expected dates of adoption, as applicable, and anticipated effects on the Company’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements, are included in 
Note 2. “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein.

Executive Overview
We are a leading global specialty retailer offering high-quality, on-trend clothing, accessories and personal care products at affordable prices 
under our American Eagle®, Aerie® and other brands.

We have two reportable segments, American Eagle and Aerie. Our Chief Operating Decision Maker (defined as our CEO) analyzes segment 
results and allocates resources between segments based on adjusted operating income (loss), or the operating income (loss) in periods where 
there are no adjustments, of each segment. See Note 12. “Segment Reporting,” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
herein for additional information.
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Key Performance Indicators 

Our management evaluates the following items, which are considered key performance indicators, in assessing our performance:

Comparable sales — Comparable sales and comparable sales changes provide a measure of sales growth for stores and channels open at least 
one year over the comparable prior year period. In fiscal years following those with 53 weeks, the prior year period is shifted by one week to 
compare similar calendar weeks. A store is included in comparable sales in the thirteenth month of operation. However, stores that have a gross 
square footage change of 25% or greater due to a remodel are removed from the comparable sales base, but are included in total sales. These 
stores are returned to the comparable sales base in the thirteenth month following the remodel. Sales from American Eagle, Aerie, Todd Snyder, 
and Unsubscribed stores, as well as sales from AEO Direct and other digital channels, are included in total comparable sales. Sales from licensed 
stores are not included in comparable sales. Individual American Eagle and Aerie brand comparable sales disclosures represent sales from stores 
and AEO Direct.

Omni-channel Sales Performance – Our management utilizes the following quality of sales metrics in evaluating our omni-channel sales 
performance: comparable sales, average unit retail price, total transactions, units per transaction, and consolidated comparable traffic. We include 
these metrics in our discussion within this MD&A when we believe they enhance the understanding of the matter being discussed. Investors may 
find them useful as such. Each of these metrics is defined as follows (except comparable sales, which is defined separately above):

• Average unit retail price represents the selling price of our goods. It is the cumulative net sales divided by the net units sold for a period of 
time.

• Total transactions represents the count of customer transactions over a period of time (inclusive of Company-owned stores and AEO 
Direct, unless specified otherwise).

• Units per transaction represents the number of units sold divided by total transactions over a period of time (inclusive of Company-owned 
stores and AEO Direct, unless specified otherwise).

• Consolidated comparable traffic represents visits to our Company-owned stores, limited to those stores that qualify to be included in 
comparable sales as defined above, including AEO Direct, over a period of time.

Gross profit — Gross profit measures whether we are optimizing the profitability of our sales. Gross profit is the difference between total net 
revenue and cost of sales. Cost of sales consists of merchandise costs, including design, sourcing, importing, and inbound freight costs, as well 
as markdowns, shrinkage and certain promotional costs and buying, occupancy and warehousing costs and services. Design costs consist of 
compensation, rent, depreciation, travel, supplies, and samples. 

Buying, occupancy and warehousing costs and services consist of: compensation, employee benefit expenses and travel for our buyers and 
certain senior merchandising executives; rent and utilities related to our stores, corporate headquarters, distribution centers and other office 
space; freight from our distribution centers to the stores; compensation and supplies for our distribution centers, including purchasing, receiving 
and inspection costs; and shipping and handling costs related to our e-commerce operations.

The inability to obtain acceptable levels of sales, initial markups or any significant increase in our use of markdowns could have an adverse effect 
on our gross consolidated profit and results of operations.

Operating income — Our management views operating income as a key indicator of our performance. The key drivers of operating income are 
net revenue, gross profit, our ability to control SG&A expenses, and our level of capital expenditures for a reasonable period of time.

Cash flow and liquidity — Our management evaluates cash flow from operations and investing and financing activities in determining the 
sufficiency of our cash position and capital allocation strategies. Cash flow has historically been sufficient to cover our uses of cash.  Our 
management believes that cash flow and liquidity will be sufficient to fund anticipated capital expenditures and working capital requirements for 
the next twelve months and beyond.

Current Trends and Outlook
Inflation
During the second quarter of Fiscal 2022, our quarterly results were negatively impacted by macro-economic challenges and global inflationary 
pressures impacting consumer spending behavior, which constrained revenue and increased margin pressure to clear through excess inventory.  
Given ongoing external uncertainties, we have taken additional actions to improve financial performance, including more extensive expense and 
capital expenditure reductions.  For 

27



 

further information about the risks associated with global economic conditions and the effect of economic pressures on our business, see “Risk 
Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of our Fiscal 2021 Form 10-K.

COVID-19
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic remains highly volatile and continues to evolve on a daily basis, and we continue to see disruptions and 
volatility in our business caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The unpredictability of the trajectory of the COVID-19 pandemic has significantly diminished visibility into the future operating environment, and 
we believe that the Company may continue to experience degrees of volatility and business disruptions and remain at risk for periods of closure of 
our stores, distribution centers, and corporate facilities. While trends in new cases of COVID-19 in the United States improved during the six 
months ended July 30, 2022 compared to the final quarter of Fiscal 2021, we cannot reasonably estimate the extent to which our business will 
continue to be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Past and future impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic may disrupt the operations of our 
partners, suppliers, and vendors, which could lead to or exacerbate existing supply chain disruptions, shipping delays, freight cost increases, and 
labor shortages. We are monitoring ongoing developments, and we will take further actions that we believe are in the best interests of our 
associates and customers, as needed. For further information about the risks associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, see “Risk Factors” in Part 
I, Item 1A of our Fiscal 2021 Form 10-K.

Quiet Platforms
In Fiscal 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of AirTerra and Quiet Logistics. With these acquisitions, the Company expects to be able 
to execute on operational efficiencies to create a supply chain platform, which we refer to as Quiet Platforms, with significant long-term growth 
potential.

Omni-Channel and Digital Capabilities
We sell merchandise through our digital channels, www.ae.com, www.aerie.com, www.toddsnyder.com, www.unsubscribed.com, and our AEO 
apps, both domestically and internationally in 81 countries. We also sell merchandise on various international online marketplaces. The digital 
channels reinforce each particular brand and are designed to complement the in-store experience.

Over the past several years, we have invested in building our technologies and digital capabilities. We focused our investments in three key 
areas: making significant advances in mobile technology, investing in digital marketing and improving the digital customer experience.

Non-GAAP Information
The results of operations section below contains net income (loss) per diluted share presented on an adjusted or non-GAAP basis, which is a 
non-GAAP financial measure. This financial measure is not based on any standardized methodology prescribed by GAAP and is not necessarily 
comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Non-GAAP information is provided as a supplement to, not as a substitute for, or 
as superior to, measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. We believe that this non-GAAP information is useful as an 
additional means for investors to evaluate our operating performance when reviewed in conjunction with our GAAP Consolidated Financial 
Statements and provides a higher degree of transparency. These amounts are not determined in accordance with GAAP and, therefore, should 
not be used exclusively in evaluating our business and operations. The table below reconciles the GAAP financial measure to the non-GAAP 
financial measure discussed above.

 
  13 Weeks Ended  
  July 30,   July 31,  
  2022   2021  
Net (loss) income per diluted share - GAAP Basis  $ (0.24 )  $ 0.58  

Add: Debt related charges   0.28    —  
Add: Convertible Debt   —    0.02  

Net income per diluted share - Adjusted or Non-
   GAAP Basis  $ 0.04   $ 0.60  
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  26 Weeks Ended  
  July 30,   July 31,  
  2022   2021  
Net (loss) income per diluted share - GAAP Basis  $ (0.06 )  $ 1.04  

Add: Debt related charges   0.26    —  
Add: Convertible Debt   —    0.04  

Net income per diluted share - Adjusted or Non-
   GAAP Basis  $ 0.20   $ 1.08  
 
 

$60.1 million of pre-tax debt related charges related primarily to the induced conversion expense relating to the Note Exchange, along with 
certain other costs related to actions we took to strengthen our capital structure, recorded during the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022.
Amortization of the non-cash discount on the 2025 Notes included in interest expense, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
prior to the adoption of ASU 2020-06.
Adjusted EPS for the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 is calculated using weighted average diluted shares outstanding of 206.7 million 
and 213.3 million, respectively, which includes the dilutive effect of our convertible notes and equity compensation awards.  As GAAP results 
were a net (loss) for these periods, these shares were not included in the GAAP diluted earnings per share denominator when calculating 
EPS on a GAAP basis.

Results of Operations
Overview
Demand in the second quarter was soft, reflecting the impact of inflationary pressure and a related shift in consumer spending patterns.  In 
this environment, margin pressure was more amplified as we worked to clear through excess spring and summer goods. Given ongoing 
uncertainties in the macroeconomic environment, we have taken additional steps to position the business for improved financial 
performance. This includes further resetting inventory plans for the back half of the year, expanding the scope of expense and capital 
expenditure reductions. 
The following table shows the percentage relationship to total net revenue of the listed line items included in our Consolidated Statements of 
Operations:
 
  13 Weeks Ended    26 Weeks Ended   
  July 30,    July 31,    July 30,    July 31,   
  2022    2021    2022    2021   
Total net revenue   100.0  %   100.0  %   100.0  %   100.0  %
Cost of sales, including certain buying, occupancy
   and warehousing expenses   69.1     57.9     66.4     57.9   
Gross profit   30.9     42.1     33.6     42.1   
Selling, general and administrative expenses   25.7     24.6     26.9     25.1   
Depreciation and amortization expense   4.0     3.4     4.2     3.5   
Operating income   1.2     14.1     2.5     13.5   
Debt related charges   5.1     -     2.7     -   
Interest expense, net   0.3     0.8     0.4     0.7   
Other income, net   (0.2 )    (0.1 )    (0.3 )    (0.1 )  
(Loss) income before income taxes   (4.0 )    13.4     (0.3 )    12.9   
(Benefit) provision for income taxes   (0.5 )    3.2     0.2     3.2   
Net (loss) income   (3.5 ) %   10.2  %   (0.5 ) %   9.7  %
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The following table shows our consolidated store data:
 
  13 Weeks Ended   26 Weeks Ended  
  July 30,   July 31,   July 30,   July 31,  
  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Number of stores:             
Beginning of period   1,141    1,074    1,133    1,078  
Opened   29    20    48    31  
Closed   (10 )   (4 )   (21 )   (19 )
End of period   1,160    1,090    1,160    1,090  
Total gross square feet at end of period (in '000)   7,205    6,799    7,205    6,799  
International licensed/franchise stores at end of 
   period   260    242    260    242  
 

International licensed/franchise stores are not included in the consolidated store data or the total gross square feet calculation.

As of July 30, 2022, we operated 873 American Eagle retail stores, which include 185 Aerie side-by-side locations and 2 OFFLINE™ side-by-side 
locations, 276 Aerie stand-alone stores (including 31 OFFLINE™ stand-alone stores and 21 OFFLINE™ side-by-side locations), and AEO Direct. 
Additionally, there were six Todd Snyder stand-alone locations and five Unsubscribed locations.

Comparison of the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022 to the 13 weeks ended July 31, 2021
Total Net Revenue
Total net revenue increased $4.0 million, to $1.198 billion compared to $1.194 billion last year.

American Eagle

Total net revenue for the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022 for the American Eagle brand was $777.8 million compared to $845.9 million for the 13 
weeks ended July 31, 2021.

Aerie

Total net revenue for the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022 for the Aerie brand was $371.7 million compared to $335.8 million for the 13 weeks 
ended July 31, 2021.

Gross Profit
Gross profit decreased 26% or $132.4 million to $370.0 million compared to $502.4 million last year. Our gross margin percentage decreased to 
30.9% of revenue from 42.1% of revenue last year. The gross margin decline was driven by  a 750 basis point impact from higher markdowns, 
largely reflecting initiatives to clear excess inventory as a result of the larger than expected reduction in our sales trend.  Higher freight costs 
impacted the gross margin by approximately 200 basis points and Quiet Platforms had a 60 basis point impact as we integrate and ramp up 
business.  Delivery, warehousing costs and rent also increased, offset by lower incentive compensation accruals.

There was $4.0 million and $3.9 million of share-based payment expense included in gross profit for the 13 week periods ended July 30, 2022 
and July 31, 2021, respectively, comprised of both time and performance-based awards.

Our gross profit may not be comparable to that of other retailers, as some retailers include all costs related to their distribution network as well as 
design costs in cost of sales and others may exclude a portion of these costs from cost of sales, including them in a line item such as SG&A 
expenses. Refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our accounting policy regarding cost of sales, including 
certain buying, occupancy and warehousing expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
SG&A expenses increased 5% or $13.9 million to $307.8 million from $293.9 million last year. As a percentage of total net revenue, SG&A 
expenses increased 110 basis points to 25.7%, compared to 24.6% last year. The increase in expenses was primarily related to increased store 
wages and corporate compensation, professional services and advertising, partially offset by lower incentive compensation accruals.
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There was $4.6 million and $5.1 million of share-based payment expense included in SG&A expenses for the 13 week periods ended July 30, 
2022 and July 31, 2021, respectively, comprised of both time and performance-based awards.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense increased 19% or $7.7 million, to $48.2 million for the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022, compared to $40.5 
million for the 13 weeks ended July 31, 2021, which was primarily driven by increased capital spending and the recent acquisition of Quiet 
Logistics. As a percentage of total net revenue, depreciation and amortization expense was 4.0% for the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022 compared 
to 3.4% for the 13 weeks ended July 31, 2021.  
 
Debt Related Charges
Debt related charges of $60.1 million for the 13 weeks ended June 30, 2022 consists primarily of a $55.7 million induced conversion expense 
relating to the Note Exchange, along with certain other costs related to actions we took to strengthen our capital structure. 

Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net decreased $5.5 million, to $3.4 million, for the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022, compared to $8.9 million for the 13 weeks 
ended July 31, 2021. The decrease in expense was primarily attributable to the adoption of ASU 2020-06 which reduced non-cash interest 
expense related to amortization of the non-cash discount on our 2025 Notes, partially offset by $1.0 million of interest expense from borrowings 
under our Credit Facility this year.

Other Income, net
Other income, net was $1.8 million for the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022, compared to $1.4 million for the 13 weeks ended July 31, 2021.

(Benefit) Provision for Income Taxes 
The provision for income taxes is based on the current estimate of the annual effective income tax rate and is adjusted as necessary for discrete 
quarterly events. The effective income tax benefit rate for the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022 was 10.9% compared to the effective income tax rate 
of 24.3% for the 13 weeks ended July 31, 2021. The change in the effective tax rate, as compared to the prior period, is primarily due to the Note 
Exchange as a portion of the inducement charge was not deductible, lower excess tax benefits on share-based payments, and state legislative 
changes. 

Net (Loss) Income
Net (loss) income decreased $164.0 million, to a net loss of $42.5 million for the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022, or (3.5%) as a percentage of total 
net revenue, compared to net income of $121.5 million, or 10.2% as a percentage of total net revenue for the 13 weeks ended July 31, 2021. 

Net (loss) income per share decreased to a net loss of $0.24 per diluted share, including $0.28 of debt related charges for the 13 weeks ended 
July 30, 2022, compared to net income of $0.58 per diluted share, including $0.02 of the amortization of the non-cash discount on the 2025 Notes 
for the 13 weeks ended July 31, 2021. The change in net (loss) income was attributable to the factors noted above.

Comparison of the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 to the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021
Total Net Revenue
Total net revenue increased 1%, or $24.4 million, to $2.253 billion compared to $2.229 billion last year.

American Eagle

Total net revenue for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 for the American Eagle brand was $1.463 billion compared to $1.574 billion for the 26 
weeks ended July 31, 2021.

Aerie

Total net revenue for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 for the Aerie brand was $693.4 million compared to $633.3 million for the 26 weeks 
ended July 31, 2021.
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Gross Profit
Gross profit decreased 19% or $180.6 million, to $758.0 million compared to $938.6 million last year. Our gross margin percentage decreased to 
33.6% of revenue from 42.1% of revenue last year. The gross margin decline was driven by a 440 basis point impact from higher markdowns, 
largely reflecting initiatives to clear excess inventory.  Higher freight costs impacted the gross margin by approximately 270 basis points and Quiet 
Platforms had a 90 basis point impact as we integrate and ramp up the business.  Delivery, warehousing costs and rent also increased, offset by 
lower incentive compensation accruals.

There was $9.4 million and $8.2 million of share-based payment expense included in gross profit for the 26 week periods ended July 30, 2022 
and July 31, 2021, respectively, comprised of both time and performance-based awards.

Our gross profit may not be comparable to that of other retailers, as some retailers include all costs related to their distribution network as well as 
design costs in cost of sales and others may exclude a portion of these costs from cost of sales, including them in a line item such as SG&A 
expenses. Refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our accounting policy regarding cost of sales, including 
certain buying, occupancy and warehousing expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
SG&A expenses increased 9% or $48.2 million to $606.6 million from $558.4 million last year. As a percentage of total net revenue, SG&A 
expenses increased 180 basis points to 26.9%, compared to 25.1% last year. The increase in expenses was primarily related to increased store 
wages and hours and corporate compensation, professional services and advertising, partially offset by lower incentive compensation accruals.

There was $13.5 million and $13.4 million of share-based payment expense included in SG&A expenses for the 26 week periods ended July 30, 
2022 and July 31, 2021, respectively, comprised of both time and performance-based awards.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense increased 21% or $16.8 million, to $95.5 million for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, compared to $78.7 
million for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021, which was primarily driven by increased capital spending and the recent acquisition of Quiet 
Logistics. As a percentage of total net revenue, depreciation and amortization expense was 4.2% this year compared to 3.5% last year.  
 
Debt Related Charges
Debt related charges of $60.1 million for the 26 weeks ended June 30, 2022 consists primarily of a $55.7 million induced conversion expense 
related to the Note Exchange, along with certain other costs related to actions we took to strengthen our capital structure. 

Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net decreased $9.4 million, to $8.0 million, for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, compared to $17.4 million for the 26 weeks 
ended July 31, 2021. The decrease in expense was primarily attributable to the adoption of ASU 2020-06 which reduced non-cash interest 
expense related to amortization of the non-cash discount on our 2025 Notes, partially offset by $1.0 million of interest expense from borrowings 
under our Credit Facility.

Other Income, net
Other income, net was $6.3 million for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, compared to $3.2 million for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021. 

Provision for Income Taxes 
The provision for income taxes is based on the current estimate of the annual effective income tax rate and is adjusted as necessary for discrete 
quarterly events. The effective income tax rate for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 was -82.5% compared to 24.5% for the 26 weeks ended 
July 31, 2021. The change in the effective tax rate, as compared to the prior period, is primarily due to the Note Exchange as a portion of the 
inducement charge was not deductible, lower excess tax benefits on share-based payments, and state legislative changes.
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Net (Loss) Income
Net (loss) income decreased $227.7 million, to a net loss of $10.7 million for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, or (0.5%) as a percentage of total 
net revenue, compared to $217.0 million, or 9.7% as a percentage of total net revenue for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021. 

Net (loss) income per share decreased to a net loss of $0.06 per diluted share, including $0.26 of debt related charges for the 26 weeks ended 
July 30, 2022, compared to net income of $1.04 per diluted share, including $0.03 of the amortization of the non-cash discount on the 2025 Notes 
for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021. The change in net (loss) income was attributable to the factors noted above.

International Operations
We have agreements with multiple third-party operators to expand our brands internationally. Our international licensing partners acquire the right 
to sell, promote, market, and/or distribute various categories of our products in a given geographic area and to source products from us. 
International licensees' rights include the right to own and operate retail stores and may include rights to sell in wholesale markets, shop-in-shop 
concessions and operate online marketplace businesses. As of July 30, 2022, our international licensing partners operated in more than 260 
licensed retail stores and concessions, as well as wholesale markets, online brand sites, and online marketplaces in 26 countries. 

As of July 30, 2022, we had 103 company-owned stores in Canada, 64 in Mexico, 17 in Hong Kong and 7 in Puerto Rico.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our uses of cash have historically been for working capital, the construction of new stores and remodeling of existing stores, information 
technology and e-commerce upgrades and investments, distribution center improvements and expansion, and the return of value to shareholders 
through the repurchase of common stock and the payment of dividends. Additionally, our uses of cash have included the development of the Aerie 
brand, investments in supply chain technology and omni-channel capabilities, and our international expansion efforts. 

Historically, our uses of cash have been funded with cash flow from operations and existing cash on hand. We also maintain a Credit Facility that 
allows us to borrow up to $700 million, which will expire in June 2027. As of July 30, 2022, we had borrowings under the Credit Facility of $307.7 
million.  Additionally, approximately $69.6 million aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Notes remain outstanding at July 30, 2022. 

As of July 30, 2022, we had approximately $98.2 million in cash and cash equivalents. We expect to be able to fund our current and long-term 
cash requirements through current cash holdings and available liquidity. 

The following sets forth certain measures of our liquidity:
 
  July 30,   January 29,   July 31,  
  2022   2022   2021  
Working Capital (in thousands)  $ 459,328   $ 554,053   $ 832,365  
Current Ratio   1.64    1.66    2.08  
 
Working capital decreased $94.7 million compared to January 29, 2022 and decreased $373.0 million compared to last year. The $373.0 million 
decrease in our working capital compared to July 31, 2021, is driven by a $725.8 million decrease in cash and short-term investments.  This 
decrease is primarily related to our acquisition of Quiet Logistics and AirTerra in Fiscal 2021 totaling $358.1 million (net of cash acquired), as well 
as $200.0 million in share repurchases under  our ASR Agreement and $136.1 million in cash paid to holders of the 2025 Notes pursuant to the 
Note Exchange.  This decrease in working capital was partially offset by a $183.5 million increase in inventory, a $82.4 million decrease in 
accrued compensation and a $65.4 million increase in net accounts receivable.

Cash Flows (Used for) Provided by Operating Activities 
Net cash used for operating activities totaled $105.3 million for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, compared to net cash provided by operating 
activities of $121.9 million for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021. For both periods, our major source of cash from operations was merchandise 
sales and our primary outflow of cash from operations was for the payment of operational costs. 

Cash Flows Used for Investing Activities 
Net cash used for investing activities totaled $128.4 million for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, compared to net cash used for investing 
activities of $140.4 million for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021. Investing activities for the 26 weeks 
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ended July 30, 2022 primarily consisted of $127.9 million of capital expenditures for property and equipment. Investing activities for the 26 weeks 
ended July 31, 2021 primarily consisted of $86.2 million of capital expenditures for property and equipment and $50.0 million of net short-term 
investment purchases.

Cash Flows Used for Financing Activities 
Net cash used for financing activities totaled $102.1 million for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, compared to net cash used for financing 
activities of $58.1 million for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021. Cash used for financing activities for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 consisted 
primarily of $200.0 million used to repurchase the Company's common stock under the ASR Agreement, $136.1 million used for the principal paid 
in connection with the Note Exchange, $64.8 million used for cash dividends paid at a quarterly rate of $0.18 per share and $9.6 million used for 
the repurchase of common stock from employees for the payment of taxes in connection with vesting of share-based payments, partially offset by 
$307.7 million of proceeds from borrowings under our Credit Facility. 

Cash used for financing activities for the 26 weeks ended July 31, 2021 consisted primarily of $53.2 million for cash dividends paid at quarterly 
rates of $0.1375 and $0.18 per share for the 13 weeks ended May 2, 2021 and July 31, 2021, respectively, and $17.5 million for the repurchase of 
common stock from employees for the payment of taxes in connection with vesting of share-based payments, partially offset by $13.1 million of 
proceeds from stock option exercises.

Credit Facility
In June 2022, we entered into the Credit Agreement, which provides senior secured asset-based revolving credit for loans and letters of credit up 
to $700 million pursuant to the Credit Facility, subject to customary borrowing base limitations. The Credit Facility expires on June 24, 2027.

All obligations under the Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by certain subsidiaries. The obligations under the Credit Agreement are 
secured by certain assets of the Company and certain subsidiaries.

As of July 30, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the terms of the Credit Agreement and had $307.7 million in borrowings and $7.9 
million outstanding in stand-by letters of credit. No loans were outstanding under the Company's previous credit agreement as of July 31, 2021. 

Capital Expenditures for Property and Equipment
Capital expenditures for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 were $127.9 million, and included $85.7 million related to investments in our stores, 
including 48 new stores (11 American Eagle stores, 35 Aerie stand-alone stores (including 12 OFFLINE™ stand-alone stores), one Todd Snyder 
store, and one Unsubscribed store), and fixtures and visual investments. Additionally, we continued to support our infrastructure growth by 
investing in information technology initiatives ($33.1 million), Quiet Platforms ($7.0 million) and other home office projects ($2.1 million).

For Fiscal 2022, we expect total capital expenditures to be approximately $250 million, related to the continued support of our expansion efforts, 
stores, information technology upgrades to support growth, and investments in e-commerce, as well as to support and enhance our supply chain. 
We expect to be able to fund our capital expenditures through current cash holdings and available liquidity.

Share Repurchases
During Fiscal 2019, our Board of Directors (“Board”) authorized the repurchase of 30.0 million shares under a share repurchase program.

On June 3, 2022, the Company entered into an ASR Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank (“JPM”) to repurchase an aggregate of $200.0 
million of the Company’s common stock.

Pursuant to the terms of the ASR Agreement, on June 3, 2022, the Company paid to JPM $200.0 million in cash and received an initial delivery of 
13.4 million shares of its common stock on June 3, 2022.  At final settlement, on July 28, 2022, an additional 3.7 million shares were received.  
The cumulative repurchase under the ASR Agreement was 17.0 million shares repurchased at an average price per share of $11.75.

As of July 30, 2022, our total remaining share repurchase authorization was approximately 13.0 million shares.

During both the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021, we repurchased approximately 0.6 million shares from certain employees at 
market prices totaling $9.6 million and $17.5 million, respectively. These shares were repurchased for the payment of taxes, in connection with the 
vesting of share-based payments, as permitted under our equity incentive plans. 
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The aforementioned repurchased shares have been recorded as treasury stock.

Dividends
During the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022, our Board declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.18 per share on June 8, 2022, which was paid on 
July 22, 2022. 

The Company maintains the right to defer the record and payment dates of its dividends, depending upon, among other factors, the progression 
of the COVID-19 outbreak, business performance, and the macroeconomic environment. The payment of future dividends is at the discretion of 
our Board and is based on future earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements, changes in U.S. taxation, and other relevant 
factors.

Subsequent to the 13 weeks ended, the Company announced that, given ongoing external uncertainties, in order to increase financial flexibility it 
is temporarily suspending its quarterly cash dividends.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our critical accounting policies and estimates are described in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations, and in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended January 29, 2022 contained in our Fiscal 2021 Form 
10-K. Any new accounting policies or updates to existing accounting policies as a result of new accounting pronouncements have been discussed 
in the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Quarterly Report. The application of our critical accounting policies and estimates 
may require our management to make judgments and estimates about the amounts reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Our 
management uses historical experience and all available information to make these estimates and judgments, and different amounts could be 
reported using different assumptions and estimates.

Fair Value Measurements
ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value 
measurements. Fair value is defined under ASC 820 as the exit price associated with the sale of an asset or transfer of a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Financial Instruments
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under ASC 820 must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. In addition, ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. 
These tiers include:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets.

• Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or 
liabilities.

As of July 30, 2022, we held certain assets that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. These include cash and cash 
equivalents.

In accordance with ASC 820, the following table represents the fair value hierarchy of our financial assets (cash equivalents) measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis as of July 30, 2022:
 
  Fair Value Measurements at July 30, 2022  

(In thousands)  Carrying Amount   

Quoted Market Prices 
in Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)   

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)  
Cash and cash equivalents:             

Cash  $ 98,111   $ 98,111   $ —   $ —  
Interest bearing deposits   103    103    —    —  

Total cash and cash equivalents  $ 98,214   $ 98,214   $ —   $ —  
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Long-Term Debt
The fair value of the 2025 Notes is not required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Upon issuance, the fair value of the 2025 Notes 
was measured using two approaches that consider market related conditions, including market benchmark rates and a secondary market quoted 
price, and is therefore within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
We are primarily exposed to the impact of foreign exchange rate risk primarily through our Canadian and Mexican operations where the functional 
currency is the Canadian dollar and Mexican peso, respectively. The impact of all other foreign currencies is currently immaterial to our 
consolidated financial results. An unrealized gain of $0.3 million and $0.8 million was included in other comprehensive income during the 13 and 
26 weeks ended July 30, 2022, respectively. Our market risk profile as of January 29, 2022, is disclosed in Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative 
Disclosures About Market Risk, of our Fiscal 2021 Form 10-K, and is unchanged as of July 30, 2022.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in 
our reports under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and 
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the management of American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. (the “Management”), 
including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, Management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how 
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

In connection with the preparation of this Quarterly Report, as of July 30, 2022, the Company performed an evaluation under the supervision and 
with the participation of our Management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design 
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based upon that 
evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly 
Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in the timely and accurate recording, processing, summarizing, and reporting of 
material financial and non-financial information within the time periods specified within the SEC’s rules and forms. Our principal executive officer 
and principal financial officer also concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be 
disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our Management, including our 
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during 
our most recently completed fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
 
 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
We are involved, from time to time, in actions associated with or incidental to our business, including, among other things, matters involving 
consumer privacy, trademark and other intellectual property, licensing, importation of products, taxation, and employee relations. We believe at 
present that the resolution of currently pending matters will not individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on our financial 
position or results of operations. However, our assessment of any litigation or other legal claims could potentially change in light of the discovery 
of facts not presently known or determinations by judges, juries, or other finders of fact that are not in accord with management's evaluation of the 
possible liability or outcome of such litigation or claims.

Refer to Note 11. “Legal Proceedings” of the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for additional information.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.
Risk factors that affect our business and financial results are discussed within Part I, Item 1A of our Fiscal 2021 Form 10-K. There have been no 
material changes to our risk factors as disclosed in the Fiscal 2021 Form 10-K. 

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table provides information regarding our repurchases of our common stock during the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022:
 
  Total      Total Number of   Maximum Number of  
  Number of   Average   Shares Purchased as   Shares that May  
  Shares   Price Paid   Part of Publicly   Yet Be Purchased  
Period  Purchased   Per Share   Announced Programs   Under the Program  
  (1)   (2)   (1)   (1) (3)  
Month #1 (May 1, 2022 through May 28, 2022)   1,944   $ 13.86    —     30,000,000  
Month #2 (May 29, 2022 through July 2, 2022)   13,464,929   $ 12.79    13,355,593     16,644,407  
Month #3 (July 3, 2022 through July 30, 2022)   3,669,080   $ 7.96    3,667,277     12,977,130  
Total   17,135,953   $ 11.75    17,022,870     12,977,130  

In June of 2022, pursuant to the ASR Agreement, the Company paid $200.0 million in cash and received an initial delivery of 13.4 million 
shares of its common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $170.8 million and a price per share of $12.79 on June 3, 2022. At final 
settlement, on July 28, 2022, an additional 3.7 million shares were received.  The cumulative repurchase under the ASR Agreement was 17.0 
million shares repurchased at an average price per share of $11.75. Additionally, 0.1 million shares were repurchased for the payment of 
taxes in connection with the vesting of share-based payments during the 13 weeks ended July 30, 2022.
Average price paid per share excludes any broker commissions paid.
During Fiscal 2019 our Board authorized the public repurchase of 30.0 million shares under a share repurchase program which expires on 
February 3, 2024.  
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.
 

   

10.1  Form of Exchange Agreement, by and between American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. and the applicable Noteholder (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 3, 2022 (SEC File No. 001-33338))

10.2  Accelerated Share Repurchase Agreement, dated June 3, 2022, by and between American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on 
June 3, 2022 (SEC File No. 001-33338))

10.3  Amendment and Restatement Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2022, between American Eagle Outfitters, Inc., American 
Eagle Outfitters Canada Corporation, the guarantors parties thereto from time to time, the lenders parties thereto from time 
to time and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the 
Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 27, 2022 (SEC File No. 001-33338))

*  31.1  Certification by Jay L. Schottenstein pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
   

*  31.2  Certification by Michael A. Mathias pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
   

** 32.1  Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

   

** 32.2  Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

   

*  101  The following materials from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2022, formatted 
as inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language (“XBRL”): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 30, 2022, January 
29, 2022 and July 31, 2021, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations for the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and 
July 31, 2021, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and 
July 31, 2021, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and July 
31, 2021, and (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the 26 weeks ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021

*  104  The cover page from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2022, formatted in inline 
XBRL 

 
* Filed with this report.
** Furnished with this report.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated:  September 7, 2022
 
  American Eagle Outfitters, Inc.

(Registrant) 
 

    
By:    /s/ Jay L. Schottenstein  
  Jay L. Schottenstein  

  Chief Executive Officer  
  (Principal Executive Officer)  

    
By:   /s/ Michael A. Mathias  

  Michael A. Mathias  
  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer  
  (Principal Financial Officer)  
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jay L. Schottenstein, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of American Eagle Outfitters, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

  
Dated:  September 7, 2022  
  
/s/ Jay L. Schottenstein  
Jay L. Schottenstein  
Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  
 
 



 
Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Michael A. Mathias, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of American Eagle Outfitters, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

  
Dated:  September 7, 2022  
  
/s/ Michael A. Mathias  
Michael A. Mathias  
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial Officer)  
 
 



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 30, 
2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jay L. Schottenstein, Principal Executive Officer 
of the Company, certify to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company.

  
Dated:  September 7, 2022   
   
/s/ Jay L. Schottenstein   
Jay L. Schottenstein   
Chief Executive Officer   
(Principal Executive Officer)   
 



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 30, 
2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael A. Mathias, Principal Financial Officer of 
the Company, certify to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company.

  
Dated:  September 7, 2022   
   
/s/ Michael A. Mathias   
Michael A. Mathias   
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer    
(Principal Financial Officer)   
  


